A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in instructing the jury it had a duty to 

convict if it found all the elements of first-degree burglary beyond a 

reasonable doubt. l CP 23 (Instruction 6). 

2. The trial court erred in instructing the jury it had a duty to 

convict if it found all the elements of second-degree assault beyond a 

reasonable doubt. CP 29 (Instruction 12). 

3. The trial court erred in instructing the jury it had a duty to 

convict if it found all the elements of violation of a court order beyond a 

reasonable doubt. CP 36 (Instruction 17). 

4. The trial court erred in instructing the jury it had a duty to 

answer "yes" to the special verdict. CP 40 (Instruction 20). 

Issue Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

In a criminal trial, does a "to-convict" instruction violate a 

defendant's right to a jury trial under the state and federal Constitutions 

when it informs the jury it has a duty to return a verdict of guilty if it finds 

the elements have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt? 

I This Court rejected the argument raised here in State v. Meggyesy, 90 Wn. App. 693, 
958 P. 2d 319, rev. denied, 136 Wn.2d 1028 (1998), abrogated on other grounds by State 
v. Recuenco, 154 Wn.2d 156, 110 P.3d 188 (2005). Counsel respectfully contends 
Meggyesy was incorrectly decided. Because Kothari must include a Gunwall analysis or 
risk waiver of the issue, the Meggyesy argument is included in its entirety. 



B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Procedural Facts 

The King County prosecutor charged appellant Sudeshkumar Kothari 

with first-degree burglary, second-degree assault, and misdemeanor violation 

of a court order. CP 10-13. The prosecutor also alleged each offense was 

committed against a family or household member, the burglary and assault 

were aggravated domestic violence offenses committed within the sight or 

sound of a minor child, and the burglary was an aggravated domestic 

violence offense committed with deliberate cruelty. CP 10-13. 

The jury found Kothari guilty as charged and answered yes to the 

special verdicts regarding the aggravating factors. CP 47-56. The court 

imposed an exceptional sentence of 96 months on the burglary and assault 

charges to run concurrently with each other and with 364 days imposed for 

the misdemeanor. CP 237, 242. The court also imposed 18 months 

community custody. CP 238. Notice of appeal was timely filed. CP 246. 

2. Substantive Facts 

Kothari was in the midst of appealing after a very contentious 

divorce from his former wife. RP 352, 371. The court had awarded the 

family home and custody of the couple's two children to Kothari's wife. RP 

374, 385. The divorce decree included a mutual restraining order prohibiting 

each of them from going to the other's home or work. RP 163-64. He 
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believed she was concealing tax records he needed to pursue the appeal. RP 

352-53. He testified that, after calling repeatedly to ensure no one was 

home, he entered the home through a window to retrieve the records. RP 

380-81. 

When his wife discovered him in the house, Kothari testified, he tried 

to talk to her but she began to strike him repeatedly. RP 360-61. He looked 

in the gym bag he had brought to carry the tax records in, and found a 

"deterrent device" similar to a taser that he had purchased a few years earlier 

for his teenage daughter. RP 367, 406, 426. Hoping his wife would stop 

hitting him if she saw the sparks and heard the electric sound of the device, 

Kothari activated it. RP 361. Although he was careful, it touched her a few 

times as he tried to push her away. RP 362, 409. The altercation lasted 20 to 

30 seconds, during which time his wife screan1ed but never stopped hitting 

him. RP 361-62, 417. 

When he noticed his daughter's presence, Kothari decided to run. 

RP 363. Once outside the house, he threw the device in a hedge and then 

walked around not knowing what to do. RP 363-64. At first, he sat down to 

wait for the police, but then he fled, not wanting to be handcuffed in front of 

his daughter. RP 364-65. Later that day, Kothari turned himself in to the 

Mercer Island police. RP 247. 
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Kothari's wife testified she arrived home with her daughter to find 

the internet phone cable disconnected. RP 133. They plugged the cable 

back in and went about their evening. RP 135. After she went into the 

bathroom, Kothari's wife testified, she was attacked from behind and 

shocked between 20 and 30 times as she fell to the ground screaming and 

struggling to get away. RP 136-37. She testified she heard Kothari say, 

"This is for what you have done to me." RP 137. 

Kothari's daughter testified she heard her mother screaming and 

went to see what was wrong. RP 213. She testified she saw her father 

standing over her mother pushing the device against her. RP 213. She heard 

the sound of the device and saw blue sparks. RP 213. She called 911 and 

told police her father was killing her mother. RP 215. 

Kothari's wife testified that when there was a pause m the 

altercation, she ran outside to find her daughter and the neighbors waiting, 

having already called police. RP 138. She testified the four-inch scar on her 

left breast was a result of bums from the device. RP 155. She also testified 

pain caused by the multiple bums from the device and muscle strain from the 

struggle lasted several months. RP 154, 162. 
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C. ARGUMENT 

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY IT 
HAD A "DUTY TO RETURN A VERDICT OF GUILTY." 

The "to-convict" instructions listing the elements of the charged 

offenses in this case stated: "If you find from the evidence that each of these 

elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, it will be your duty to 

return a verdict of guilty." CP 23, 29, 36. For the special verdict on the 

aggravating factors, the court instructed, "If you find from the evidence that 

element (1), and any of the alternative elements (2)( a), or (2)(b), have been 

proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to answer "yes" 

on the special verdict form." CP 40. This is standard language from the 

pattern instructions. 11A Washington Practice: Pattern Jury Instructions: 

Criminal, WPIC 35.13, 36.51, 60.02, 300.17 (3d Ed. 2011). But these 

instructions misstate the law. A jury always has the power to acquit, and the 

court never has the power to direct or coerce a verdict. While the jury need 

not be notified of its power to acquit despite the evidence, it IS a 

misstatement of the law to instruct the jury this power does not exist. 

Jury instructions must clearly communicate the relevant law to the 

jury and must not be misleading. State v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 307, 165 

P.3d 1241 (2007). Constitutional violations and jury instructions are 

reviewed de novo. Id. at 307; City of Redmond v. Moore, 151 Wn.2d 664, 
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668, 91 P.3d 875 (2004). The "to-convict" instructions in this case violated 

Kothari's right to a jury that has been properly instructed on the law. 2 

a. The "Duty to Convict" Language Violates the Right 
to a Jury Trial Under the United States Constitution. 

The right to a jury trial is fundamental in our criminal justice system. 

Indeed this is the only right enumerated in both the original United States 

Constitution of 1789 and in the Bill of Rights. U.S. Const. art. 3, § 2, 3; U. 

S. Const. amend. 6; U.S. Const. amend. 7. It is further guaranteed by the due 

process clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. Duncan v. 

Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 156, 88 S. Ct. 1444, 20 L. Ed. 2d 491 (1968); City 

of Pasco v. Mace, 98 Wn.2d 87, 94, 653 P.2d 618 (1982). Thomas Jefferson 

wrote of the importance of this right in a letter to Thomas Paine in 1789: "I 

consider trial by jury as the only anchor ever yet imagined by man, by which 

a government can be held to the principles of its constitution." The Papers of 

Thomas Jefferson, Vol. 15,269 (Princeton Univ. Press, 1958). 

In addition to being a valued right afforded criminal defendants, the 

jury trial is also an allocation of political power to the citizenry: 

[T]he jury trial provisions in the . Federal and State 
Constitutions reflect a fundamental decision about the 
exercise of official power -- a reluctance to entrust plenary 
powers over the life and liberty of the citizen to one judge or 

2 Kothari did not make this argument to the trial court. He may nevertheless raise it for 
the first time on appeal as an issue of constitutional magnitude. RAP 2.5(a)(3); State v. 
Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 688, 757 P.2d 492 (1988); State v. Byrd, 72 Wn. App. 774, 782, 
868 P.2d 158 (1994), affd, 125 Wn. 2d 707,887 P.2d 396 (1995). 
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to a group of judges. Fear of unchecked power, so typical of 
our State and Federal Governments in other respects, found 
expression in the criminal law in this insistence upon 
community participation in the determination of guilt or 
mnocence. 

Duncan, 391 U.S. at 156. 

While some federal courts have concluded an instruction on the duty 

to convict "probably" does not divest the jury entirely of its power to acquit, 

the courts have also warned against "language that suggests to the jury that it 

is obliged to return a guilty verdict." United States v. Bejar-Matrecios, 618 

F.2d 81, 85 (9th Cir. 1980) (citing United States v. Atkinson, 512 F.2d 1235 

(4th Cir. 1975) and United States v. Garaway, 425 F.2d 185 (9th Cir. 1970)). 

b. Under a Gunwall Analysis, the Duty to Convict 
Instruction Violates the Greater Protection Afforded 
the Jury Trial Right by the Washington Constitution. 

Washington's constitution provides greater protection than the 

federal constitution in some areas. State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 

P.2d 808 (1986). Analysis of the six Gunwall factors demonstrates 

Washington's constitution is substantially more protective of the jury trial 

right than the federal constitution. 

1. Textual Language and Differences from 
Federal Constitutional Provisions 

The Washington State Constitution goes further than the federal 

constitution, declaring the right to a trial by jury shall be held "inviolate." 

Const. art. 1, § 21. 
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The term "inviolate" connotes deserving of the highest 
protection . . .. Applied to the right to trial by jury, this 
language indicates that the right must remain the essential 
component of our legal system that it has always been. For 
such a right to remain inviolate, it must not diminish over 
time and must be protected from all assault to its essential 
guarantees. 

Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp., 112 Wn.2d 636, 656,771 P.2d 711 (1989) . 

. The difference in language suggests the drafters meant something 

different from the federal Bill of Rights. See Hon. Robert F. Utter, Freedom 

and Diversity in a Federal System: Perspectives on State Constitutions and 

the Washington Declaration of Rights, 7 U. Puget Sound L. Rev. 491, 515 

(1984) (Utter). 

The framers added other constitutional protections to this right. A 

court is not permitted to convey to the jury its own impression of the 

evidence. Const. art. 4, § 16. ("Judges shall not charge juries with respect to 

matters of fact, nor comment thereon, but shall declare the law."). Even a 

witness may not invade the province of the jury. State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 

336, 350, 745 P.2d 12 (1987). The right to jury trial also is protected by the 

due process clause of article I, section 3. 

While this Court in Meggyesy may have been correct when it found 

there is no specific constitutional language that addresses this precise issue, 

what language there is indicates the right to a jury trial is so fundamental that 

any infringement violates the constitution. 
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11. State Constitutional and Common Law 
History 

Washington based its Declaration of Rights on the Bills of Rights of 

other states, which relied on common law and not the federal constitution. 

Utter, 7 U. Puget Sound L. Rev. at 497. This difference supports an 

independent reading of the Washington Constitution. 

111. Preexisting State Law 

Since article I, section 21, "preserves the right [to jury trial] as it 

existed in the territory at the time of its adoption," it is helpful to look at the 

preexisting state law. Sofie, 112 Wn.2d at 645; Pasco, 98 Wn. 2d at 96. In 

Leonard v. Territory, the Supreme Court reversed a murder conviction and 

set out the jury instructions given in the case. Leonard v. Territory, 2 Wash. 

Terr. 381, 7 Pac. 872 (1885). These instructions provide a view of the law 

before the adoption of the Constitution: 

If you find the facts necessary to establish the guilt of 
defendant proven to the certainty above stated, then you may 
find him guilty of such a degree of crime as the facts so 
found show him to have committed; but if you do not find 
such facts so proven, then you must acquit. 

Id. at 399. 

The court thus acknowledged, and incorporated into the jury 

instructions, the threshold requirement that each element be proved beyond a 

reasonable doubt to permit a conviction; but any reasonable doubt required 

an acquittal. Because this was the law regarding the scope of the jury's 
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authority at the time of the adoption of the Constitution, it was incorporated 

into Const. art. 1, § 21, and remains inviolate. Sofie, 112 Wn.2d at 656; 

Pasco, 98 Wn.2d at 93, 96. 

Pre-existing state law also recognized a jury's unrestricted power to 

acquit: "[T]he jury may find a general verdict compounded of law and fact, 

and if it is for the defendant, and is plainly contrary to law, either from 

mistake or a willful disregard of the law, there is no remedy." Hartigan v. 

Territory,l Wash. Terr. 447, 449 (1874). 

The Meggyesy court disregarded Leonard on the basis that Leonard 

"simply quoted the relevant instruction .... " Meggyesy, 90 Wn. App. at 

703. But the Meggyesy court missed the point; at the time the Constitution 

was adopted, courts instructed juries using the permissive "may" as opposed 

to the current practice of requiring the jury to make a finding of guilt. The 

instructions from Leonard demonstrate the pre-existing law at the time of the 

adoption of the Washington Constitution did not require a finding of guilt. 

IV. Differences In Federal and State 
Constitutions' Structure 

State constitutions were originally intended to be the primary devices 

to protect individual rights, with the United States Constitution a secondary 

layer of protection. Utter, 7 U. Puget Sound L. Rev. at 497; Utter & Pitler, 

Presenting a State Constitutional Argument: Comment on Theory and 
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Technique, 20 Ind. L. Rev. 637, 636 (1987). Accordingly, state constitutions 

were intended to give broader protection than the federal constitution. An 

independent interpretation is necessary to accomplish this end. The 

Meggyesy court acknowledged this factor nearly always weighs in favor of 

independent interpretation of the state constitution. 90 Wn. App. at 703. 

v. Matters of Particular State Interest or Local 
Concern 

Criminal law is a local matter. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 61, 

882 P.2d 747 (1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1129 (1995). There is no need 

for national uniformity in criminal law. Until the Fourteenth Amendment 

was interpreted to apply the United States Bill of Rights in state court 

proceedings, all matters of criminal procedure were considered a matter of 

state law. See, e.g., Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S. Ct. 792, 9 L. 

Ed. 2d 799 (1963); State v. Gibbons, 118 Wash. 171,203 P. 390 (1922). 

This factor also weighs in favor of an independent state constitutional 

analysis. The Gunwall factors show the "inviolate" Washington right to jury 

trial was more extensive than the jury trial right protected by the federal 

constitution when it was adopted in 1789. Pasco, 98 Wn.2d at 99. 

c. A Jury Should Not Be Instructed It Has a Duty to 
Convict Because No Such Duty Exists. 

The court has no power to compel or direct a jury to return a specific 

verdict. Garaway, 425 F.2d 185 (directed verdict of guilty improper even 
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.. 

where no issues of fact are in dispute); State v. Holmes, 68 Wash. 7, 12-13, 

122 Pac. 345 (1912). If a court improperly withdraws a particular issue from 

the jury's consideration, it may deny the defendant the right to jury trial. 

United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. 506, 115 S. Ct. 2310, 132 L. Ed. 2d 444 

(1995) (improper to withdraw issue of "materiality" of false statement from 

jury's consideration); see Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 8, 15-16, 119 

S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999) (omission of element in jury instruction 

subject to harmless error analysis). 

The constitutional protections against double jeopardy also protect 

the right to a jury trial by prohibiting a retrial after a verdict of acquittal. 

U.S. Const. amend. 5; Const. art. I, § 9. A jury verdict of not guilty is thus 

non-reviewable. 

Also well established is "the principle of noncoercion of jurors," 

established in Bushell's Case, Vaughan 135, 124 Eng. Rep. 1006 (1671). 

Edward Bushell was a juror in the prosecution of William Penn for unlawful 

assembly and disturbing the peace. When the jury refused to convict, the 

court fined the jurors for disregarding the evidence and the court's 

instructions. Bushell was imprisoned for refusing to pay the fine. In issuing 

a writ of habeas corpus for his release, Chief Justice Vaughan declared that 

judges could neither punish nor threaten to punish jurors for their verdicts. 
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See generally Alschuler & Deiss, A Brief History of the Criminal Jury in the 

United States, 61 U. Chi. L. Rev. 867,912-13 (1994). 

If there is no ability to review a jury verdict of acquittal, no authority 

to direct a guilty verdict, and no authority to coerce a jury in its decision, 

there can be no "duty to return a verdict of guilty." Indeed, there is no 

authority in law that suggests such a duty. 

We recognize, as appellants urge, the undisputed power of 
the jury to acquit, even if its verdict is contrary to the law as 
given by the judge and contrary to the evidence. . .. If the 
jury feels that the law under which the defendant is accused 
is unjust, or that exigent circumstances justified the actions of 
the accused, or for any reason which appeals to their logic or 
passion, the jury has the power to acquit, and the courts must 
abide by that decision. 

United States v. Moylan, 417 F.2d 1002, 1 006 (4th Cir. 1969), cert. denied, 

397 U.S. 910 (1970). 

Washington courts have also recognized that a jury may always vote 

to acquit. A judge cannot direct a verdict for the state because this would 

ignore "the jury's prerogative to acquit against the evidence, sometimes 

referred to as the jury's pardon or veto power." State v. Primrose, 32 Wn. 

App. 1,4,645 P.2d 714 (1982). See also State v. Salazar, 59 Wn. App. 202, 

211, 796 P.2d 773 (1990) (relying on jury's "constitutional prerogative to 

acquit" as basis for upholding admission of evidence). 

13 



, 

This is not to say there is a right to instruct a jury it may disregard the 

law in reaching its verdict. See, e.g., United States v. Powell, 955 F.2d 1206, 

1213 (9th Cir. 1991) (reversing conviction on other grounds). However, if 

the court may not tell the jury it may disregard the law, it is at least equally 

wrong for the court to direct the jury it has a duty to return a verdict of guilty 

if it finds certain facts to be proved. 

Although a jury may not strictly determine what the law is, it does 

have a role in applying the law of the case that goes beyond mere fact-

finding. In Gaudin, the Court rejected limiting the jury's role to mere fact-

finding. Gaudin, 515 U.S. at 514-15. Historically the jury's role has never 

been so limited: "[O]ur decision in no way undermined the historical and 

constitutionally guaranteed right of a criminal defendant to demand that the 

jury decide guilt or innocence on every issue, which includes application of 

the law to the facts." Id. at 514. 

system: 

Prof. Wigmore described the roles of the law and the jury in our 

Law and Justice are from time to time inevitably in conflict. 
That is because law is a general rule (even the stated 
exceptions to the rules are general exceptions); while justice 
is the fairness of this precise case under all its circumstances. 
And as a rule of law only takes account of broadly typical 
conditions, and is aimed at average results, law and justice 
every so often do not coincide .... We want justice, and we 
think we are going to get it through "the law" and when we 
do not, we blame the law. Now this is where the jury comes 
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in. The jury, in the privacy of its retirement, adjusts the 
general rule of law to the justice of the particular case. Thus 
the odium of inflexible rules of law is avoided, and popular 
satisfaction is preserved. . .. That is what a jury trial does. It 
supplies that flexibility of legal rules which is essential to 
justice and popular contentment. . .. The jury, and the 
secrecy of the jury room, are the indispensable elements in 
popular justice. 

Wigmore, A Program for the Trial of a Jury, 12 Am. Jud. Soc. 166 (1929). 

Furthermore, if such a "duty" to convict existed, the law lacks any 

method of enforcing it. If a jury acquits, the case is over, the charge 

dismissed, and there is no further review. In contrast, if a jury convicts when 

the evidence is insufficient, the court has a legally enforceable duty to 

reverse 'the conviction or enter a judgment of acquittal notwithstanding the 

verdict. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307,99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 

(1979); State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980); State v. Carlson, 

65 Wn. App. 153, 828 P.2d 30 (1992). The "duty" to return a verdict of not 

guilty is genuine and enforceable by law. 

But a more accurate description of the jury's role in a guilty verdict is 

to say that a legal "threshold" exists before a jury may convict, not that a jury 

has a duty to convict. A guilty verdict in a case that does not meet this 

evidentiary threshold is contrary to law and will be reversed. A jury must 

return a verdict of not guilty if there is a reasonable doubt; however, it may 
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return a verdict of guilty if, and only if, it finds every element proven beyond 

a reasonable doubt. 

d. Meggyesy Was Wrongly Decided Because It 
Focused on the Proposed Remedy Rather than the 
Error. 

The Meggyesy court did not dispute that the court has no power to 

direct a guilty verdict in a criminal trial. 90 Wn. App. at 699. Instead it 

focused on the remedy proposed by the appellant in that case, namely, an 

instruction that the jury "may" convict if it finds all the elements of the 

charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. The Meggyesy court rejected 

this remedy, interpreting it as informing the jury of its power to nullify or 

acquit despite the evidence. Id. The Court concluded there was no right to 

have the jury so instructed. Id. at 699-700. 

But a deficiency in the proposed remedy does not mean the problem 

does not exist. The jury has no "duty" to convict, and, therefore, it is 

misleading to say that it does. There are ways to remedy this problem 

without implicitly informing the jury of its power to nullify by using the 

permissive "may." For example, the jury could be accurately instructed 

regarding the threshold necessary to return a guilty verdict: "In order to 

return a verdict of guilty, you must unanimously find from the evidence that 

each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt." This 

puts the "duty" in its proper place. 
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, 

The instructions given in Kothari's case provided a level of coercion

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