69564-9

NO. 69564-9-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

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

#### C. ARGUMENT

THE DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT EVERY WPIC "TO CONVICT" JURY INSTRUCTION IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL

The defendant contends that language in the "to convict" jury instructions provided in his case rendered the instructions unconstitutional. Specifically, he contends that the following language is a misstatement of the law:

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty...

On the other hand, if, after weighing all the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to any one of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty...

The language he complains is included in every "to convict" WPIC

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The "to convict" instructions for count II and count III, as well as the aggravating factor "to convict" instruction, contain the elements of that crime/aggravating factor, the date of offense, and the exact same language as highlighted above. CP 29-30, 36, 40-41.

jury instruction. <u>See e.g.</u>, WPIC 26.02, 26.04, 26.06. This same argument has been rejected in <u>State v. Brown</u>, <sup>5</sup> <u>State v. Bonisisio</u>, <sup>6</sup> and <u>State v. Meggyesy</u>, <u>supra</u>. The Supreme Court has repeatedly denied review. Under the principles of *stare decisis*, a court cannot overturn a prior holding unless it is shown by clear evidence that it is incorrect or harmful. <u>See In re Stranger Creek</u>, 77 Wn.2d at 653. The defendant has failed to make any new arguments sufficient to meet this burden. In addition, the defendant's claim is not properly before this Court.

# The Alleged Error Is Not Manifest Allowing For Appellate Review Absent An Objection.

The defendant did not raise this issue below. In fact, when given the specific opportunity to object to the giving of any of the now contested instructions, the defendant told the court that the packet of instructions "accurately reflects the law and I have no objections or exceptions." RP 442 (3/12/12). On appeal, in a footnote, other than to assert that his claim raises a constitutional issue, the defendant does not assert how the issue amounts to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 130 Wn. App. 767, 124 P.3d 663 (2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> <u>State v. Bonisisio</u>, 92 Wn. App. 783, 964 P.2d 1222 (1998), <u>rev. denied</u>, 137 Wn.2d 1024 (1999).

"manifest constitutional error" that can be raised for the first time on appeal. See Def. br. at 6 n.2.

An appellate court will not review an alleged error not raised at trial unless it is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3); State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 687, 757 P.2d 492 (1988) (failure to instruct on "knowledge" not manifest error). "RAP 2.5(a)(3) is not intended to afford criminal defendants a means for obtaining new trials whenever they can identify some constitutional issue not raised before the trial court." State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). An appellant must identify a constitutional error and show how, in the context of the trial, the alleged error actually affected his rights. 127 Wn.2d at 333. "[I]t is this showing of actual prejudice that makes the error 'manifest,' allowing appellate review." 127 Wn.2d at 333.

Thus, to obtain review, the defendant must show that the claimed error is of constitutional magnitude and that it resulted in actual prejudice. State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98-99, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). A reviewing court will not assume that an error is of constitutional magnitude. Id. The court will look to the asserted claim and assess whether it implicates a constitutional interest as

compared to another form of trial error. <u>Id.</u> If the claimed error is of constitutional magnitude, the court will determine whether the error is manifest. Manifest requires a showing of "actual prejudice." <u>Id.</u>

To demonstrate actual prejudice there must be a "plausible showing by the appellant that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." Id.

In <u>State v. Naillieux</u>, a case that involved the trial court's failure to give a certain unanimity instruction, the Court aptly described the problem with the increasing number of claimed manifest error situations:

Mr. Naillieux argues that we should review his assignments of error in the first instance because these errors are manifest constitutional errors. He, thus, essentially invites us to review his case de novo. The problems this argument presents are spelled out clearly by Judge Marshall Forrest in his thoughtful opinion in <a href="State v. Lynn">State v. Lynn</a>, 67 Wn. App. 339, 342-46, 835 P.2d 251 (1992). And given the increasing frequency with which these assignments of error show up in this court, the problems bear repeating.

We sit as a court of review which, of course, means that we do not preside over trial proceedings de novo. Our function is to review the validity of claimed errors by a trial judge who presided over a trial. That function assumes that counsel preserve the error by objecting to something the trial judge did or did not do. We do not, and should not, be in the business of retrying these cases. It is a wasteful use of judicial resources. And it encourages skilled counsel to save claims of constitutional error for

appeal so a defendant can get a new trial and second chance at a not guilty verdict if the first trial does not end in his favor. Most errors in a criminal case can be characterized as constitutional.

Mr. Naillieux is entitled to a new trial only if his claimed errors are manifest constitutional errors. Even if the claimed error is constitutional in nature, we will not review it unless it is also manifest. An error is manifest when the defendant shows "the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." "[M]anifest' means unmistakable, evident or indisputable, as distinct from obscure, hidden or concealed. 'Affecting' means having an impact or impinging on, in short, to make a difference. A purely formalistic error is insufficient." We conclude that, while Mr. Naillieux's claims of manifest constitutional error might well implicate constitutional due process rights, they are not manifest.

State v. Naillieux, 158 Wn. App. 630, 638-39, 241 P.3d 1280 (2010) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Here, there can be nothing more than pure speculation that the alleged error--the inclusion of the disputed language in the jury instructions--had identifiable consequences. Further, it is difficult to see how the defendant can claim the alleged error is "unmistakable, evident or indisputable, as distinct from obscure, hidden or concealed," when there are multiple published cases holding in contrast to his position, and by his own admission, he is merely

trying to preserve the issue. This is insufficient to allow for appellate review.

# 2. The Defendant's Claim That Prior Case Law Is Incorrect Is Not Persuasive.

In Meggyesy, the defendant made the same argument as made here--that the language that the jury had a duty to convict if they found beyond a reasonable doubt each element of the crime had been proven, violated the defendant's "right to trial" under the state and federal constitutions. This Court rejected this argument. In short, the defendant claims that this Court got it wrong.

Specifically, he argues, like Meggyesy did, that under the state constitution, a different result is required.

In Meggyesy, this Court first noted that the challenged language appropriately directed the jury to consider the evidence and to determine whether the State had proven each element of the offenses beyond a reasonable doubt. Meggyesy, 90 Wn. App. at 699. The Court acknowledged that with general verdicts, juries do have the power to acquit against the evidence. Meggyesy, at 700 (citing United States v. Simpson, 460 F.2d 515, 519 (9th Cir. 1972)). But the Court noted that under the federal constitution, the circuit courts have clearly held that while jury nullification is always

possible, no case has held that an accused is entitled to a jury nullification instruction. <u>Meggyesy</u>, at 700. The defendant does not cite contrary authority here.

Meggyesy then argued that under the state constitution, the result must be different. This Court, followed by <u>Brown</u>, <u>supra</u>; and <u>Bonisisio</u>, <u>supra</u>; all rejected this argument.

In determining whether the state constitution provides broader protection in a certain area, the court considers the Gunwall factors. Under Gunwall, the court is guided in deciding whether to conduct an independent analysis under the state constitution based on six factors: (1) the language of the Washington Constitution, (2) differences between the state and federal language, (3) constitutional history, (4) preexisting state law, (5) structural differences, and (6) matters of particular state or local concern. Meggyesy, at 701.

As to the first <u>Gunwall</u> factor, there is nothing in the language of article I, section 21 that addresses the particular concern herein. <u>See Meggyesy</u>, at 701. In pertinent part, article I, section 21 simply provides that "[t]he right to trial by jury shall remain inviolate."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Referring to <u>State v. Gunwall</u>, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986).

As to the second <u>Gunwall</u> factor, the defendant seems to agree that while the language of article I, section 21 and the sixth amendment is different, nothing in the language of either provision-or the difference in language--addresses the particular concern herein. <u>See Meggyesy</u>, at 701-02. In pertinent part, the sixth amendment provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the state and district wherein the crime shall have been committed." In <u>State v. Brown</u>, 132 Wn.2d 529, 595, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), the Supreme Court held that the language of the sixth amendment and article I, § 22 is substantially similar.

The third <u>Gunwall</u> factor, state constitutional history, also does not support an argument that the state constitution provides a broader right to trial by jury than does the federal right. <u>Meggyesy</u>, at 702. The Supreme Court has previously held that "the constitutional history shows there is no indication the framers intended the state constitutional right to a jury to be broader than the federal right." <u>Brown</u>, 132 Wn.2d at 596.

In <u>Meggyesy</u>, this Court found that the fourth factor, preexisting state law, "does not aid the appellants." <u>Meggyesy</u>, at 702. This Court noted that the Supreme Court has held that

article I, section 21 preserved the scope of the right to trial by jury as it existed at the time the state constitution was adopted. Id.

This Court found that Meggyesy had provided no pre-constitutional case establishing a rule prohibiting the challenged language used herein. The defendant here claims this is incorrect and cites to Leonard v. Territory, 2 Wash. Terr. 381, 7 P. 872 (1885). This claim is of no moment.

Meggyesy cited to <u>Leonard</u> as well, and the Court properly considered the case for its limited value. Leonard was convicted of murder and sentenced to death. He challenged a great number of the jury instructions provided in his case on a number of grounds-none of which, the <u>Meggyesy</u> court noted, involved the legal challenge made by Meggyesy (or herein by the defendant).

However, the defendant here argues that the point of citing <a href="Leonard"><u>Leonard</u></a> is that one of the instructions in <u>Leonard</u> contained the following language, "If you find the facts necessary to establish the guilt of defendant proven to the certainty above stated, then you *may* find him guilty..." Thus, according to the defendant, this shows the prevailing practice at the time the state constitution was ratified. This argument fails for a variety of reasons.

First, all five jury instructions challenged in <u>Leonard</u> were general instructions dealing with the burden of proof and defenses, and every single instruction was found to misstate the law. It is abundantly clear from the opinion that the instructions were crafted by the trial court (or trial counsel) and were not a type of standard jury instruction used in other cases at that time, such as WPIC instructions are used now. If the instructions in <u>Leonard</u> were standard instructions, then every single criminal case in the State of Washington would have been reversed based on <u>Leonard</u>. This, obviously, did not occur.

Second, there is nothing in the <u>Leonard</u> opinion, or anything else the defendant cites herein, that demonstrates the actual standard practice at the time in regards to the issue he raises here.

And third, the defendant does not address State v. Wilson, 8 discussed in Meggyesy. Wilson complained of an instruction that stated that if the jury found the elements of the crime, the jury "must" find the defendant guilty. Wilson, 9 Wash. at 21. The Supreme Court stated that taking all the language in context, "it clearly appears that all the court intended to say was that, if they found from the evidence that all the acts necessary to constitute the

<sup>8 9</sup> Wash. 16, 36 P. 967 (1894).

crime had been committed by the defendant, the law *made it their duty* to find him guilty." Wilson, at 21 (emphasis added). The Court held that there was no instructional error. Id. The defendant's argument that this Court erred in regards to the fourth factor is not persuasive.

As to the fifth factor, the differences in the structures of the federal and state constitutions, the State conceded in Meggyesy that this factor always supports an independent analysis.

Meggyesy, at 703.

As to the sixth, and final <u>Gunwall</u> factor, matters of particular state or local concern, while criminal law is a matter of state and local concern, there is nothing about this concern that would suggest that there is any different standard in regards to the issue at hand than any other area of the country or the federal court system—a jurisdiction that as already noted has rejected the argument the defendant makes here.

This argument has been made multiple times, in <a href="Meggyesy">Meggyesy</a>, and <a href="Bonisisio">Bonisisio</a>, if not other cases. The Supreme Court has denied review of this issue at least two times (<a href="Meggyesy">Meggyesy</a>, and <a href="Bonisisio">Bonisisio</a>). Under the principles of *stare decisis*, a court cannot overturn a prior holding unless it is shown by clear evidence that it

is incorrect or harmful. See In re Stranger Creek, supra. The defendant has failed to make any new arguments sufficient to meet this burden.

### D. CONCLUSION

For the reasons cited above, this Court should affirm the defendant's convictions.